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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
                                               Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
IIPAY NATION OF SANTA YSABEL, also 
known as SANTA YSABEL BAND OF 
DIEGUENO MISSION INDIANS OF THE 
SANTA YSABEL RESERVATION, a federally 
recognized Indian Tribe; the SANTA YSABEL  
GAMING COMMISSION; SANTA YSABEL 
INTERACTIVE; and SANTA YSABEL 
TRIBAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, 
 
                                                Defendants. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CASE NO. 
 
COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for injunctive relief under the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement 

Act (“UIGEA”), 31 U.S.C. §§ 5361-5367.  The United States’ claims concern Defendants’ ownership, 

management and/or operation of a gambling business accessible to the public on the Internet at 

www.desertrosebingo.com (“Desert Rose Bingo”).  Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 5365(b)(1), the United States 

seeks to enjoin Defendants from engaging in restricted transactions arising out of unlawful Internet 

gambling. 

/// 

LAURA E. DUFFY 
United States Attorney 
GLEN F. DORGAN 
Assistant United States Attorney 
California Bar No. 160502 
Office of the U.S. Attorney 
880 Front Street, Room 6293 
San Diego, California 92101 
Tel: (619) 546-7665  Fax:  (619) 546-7751 
Email:  glen.dorgan@usdoj.gov 
 
Attorneys for the Plaintiff UNITED STATES 
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THE DEFENDANTS 

 3. IIPAY NATION OF SANTA YSABEL, also known as SANTA YSABEL BAND OF 

DIEGUENO MISSION INDIANS OF THE SANTA YSABEL RESERVATION (“IIPAY”) is a federally 

recognized Indian tribe.  IIPAY is located within the Santa Ysabel Reservation, an area that consists of 

approximately 15,500 acres between the towns of Santa Ysabel and Warner Springs in the County of San 

Diego, State of California (“IIPAY Indian Lands”). 

 4. The SANTA YSABEL GAMING COMMISSION (“SYGC”) is a tribal entity and/or 

agency established by IIPAY to regulate gambling operations conducted by IIPAY. 

 5. SANTA YSABEL INTERACTIVE (“SYI”) is a tribal corporation established under the 

laws of IIPAY.  SYI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SANTA YSABEL TRIBAL DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORTATION (“SYDC”), which is wholly owned by IIPAY. 

 6. IIPAY, SYGC, SYI and SYDC (collectively “Defendants”) own, manage and/or operate 

Desert Rose Bingo. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 7. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 and 31 U.S.C. § 5365(a), the latter of which specifically confers jurisdiction on this Court for 

actions brought under UIGEA. 

 8. Personal jurisdiction and venue are proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 

because one or more of the Defendants reside within this District and a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claim occurred within this District.  

UIGEA 

9. Congress enacted UIGEA in 2006 based on findings that “Internet gambling is a growing 

cause of debt collection problems for insured depository institutions and the consumer credit industry” 

and “traditional law enforcement mechanisms are often inadequate for enforcing gambling prohibitions or 

regulations on the Internet.”  31 U.S.C. § 5361(a)(3)-(4). 

10. UIGEA provides that “[n]o person engaged in the business of betting or wagering may 

knowingly accept, in the connection with the participation of another person in unlawful Internet 

/// 

Case 3:14-cv-02855-DMS-BLM   Document 1   Filed 12/03/14   Page 2 of 7



 

 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

Complaint 

gambling,” various forms of fund transfers through credit cards, electronic fund transfers, checks or 

similar instruments.  31 U.S.C. § 5363.  A “transaction or transmittal involving any credit, funds, 

instrument, or proceeds described in any paragraph of section 5363” is defined as a “restricted 

transaction” under UIGEA.  31 U.S.C. § 5362(7). 

11. The term “Internet gambling business” is defined broadly to include “the business of 

placing, receiving or otherwise knowingly transmitting a bet or wager by any means which involves the 

use, at least in part, of the Internet.”  12 C.F.R. § 233.2.  An “Internet gambling business” promotes 

and/or engages in “unlawful Internet gambling” if the business places, receives, or otherwise knowingly 

transmits “a bet or wager by any means which involves the use, at least in part, of the Internet [and] such 

bet or wager is unlawful under any applicable Federal or State law in the State or Tribal lands in which 

the bet or wager is initiated, received or otherwise made.”  31 U.S.C. § 5362(10); 12 C.F.R. § 233.2(bb). 

12. The term “bet or wager” is defined broadly to include (i) “the staking or risking by any 

person of something of value upon the outcome of a contest of others, a sporting event, or a game subject 

to chance, upon an agreement or understanding that the person or another person will receive something 

of value in the event of a certain outcome;” (ii) “the purchase of a chance or opportunity to win a lottery 

or other prize (which opportunity to win is predominantly subject to chance);” and (iii) “any instructions 

or information pertaining to the establishment or movement of funds by the bettor or customer in, to, or 

from an account with the business of betting or wagering.”  31 U.S.C. § 5362(1)(A), (B) & (D). 

DESERT ROSE BINGO 

13. Defendants are “engaged in the business of betting or wagering” within the meaning of 31 

U.S.C. § 5363. 

14. Desert Rose Bingo is an “Internet gambling business” within the meaning of 12 C.F.R. § 

233.2 because, among other factors: 

  14.A. Customers of Desert Rose Bingo may access the business from any location by 

logging on to www.desertrosebingo.com through any web-browser-enabled device such as cell phones, 

tablets and iPads, laptops or desk computers. 

/// 
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 14.B. After accessing Desert Rose Bingo through the Internet, customers who are 

California residents and at least 18 years of age may register with Desert Rose Bingo to create an on-line 

account.  Once registered, a customer becomes an “Account Holder.” 

 14.C. Account Holders may deposit funds into their on-line accounts by electronically 

transferring funds to Desert Rose Bingo through the use of a credit or debit card, electronic fund transfer 

or check.  Account Holders may maintain as much as $5,000 in United States currency on deposit with 

Desert Rose Bingo. 

 14.D. Account Holders who have deposited funds into their on-line accounts and have 

logged on to www.desertrosebingo.com may navigate to the “bingo” tab on the online game screen and 

purchase bingo cards in United States currency.  The denomination choices range from $0.01 to $1.00 per 

game, and Account Holders can purchase up to 500 bingo cards per game. 

 14.E. After an Account Holder has purchased one or more bingo cards for a game, the 

website directs the Account Holder to the “playback mode” screen.  In “playback mode,” the screen is 

divided into three sections.  The section on the right of the screen identifies the game “ID” number, the 

number of cards purchased and the number of Account Holders participating.  The section in the middle 

shows the card(s) purchased by the Account Holder.  The cards appear in a traditional “bingo” format 

with twenty-four numbers arranged within a 5-by-5 box grid and a “free space” occupying the middle 

box.  The section on the left of the screen identifies the Account Holder’s account balance and displays a 

15-by-5 box grid containing bingo numbers 1 through 75. 

 14.F. Once a minimum number of five Account Holders have purchased cards for a 

particular game, the game commences.  The online game proceeds quickly at a rate of approximately two 

to three numbers automatically “called” every second.  As the numbers are called, they are highlighted on 

the 15-by-5 box grid on the left of the screen.  When a number on a purchased card is called, it is also 

automatically highlighted on the card(s) in the middle section of the screen.  The game proceeds in this 

manner until a bingo pattern develops on an Account Holder’s purchased card(s).  When a bingo pattern 

develops, the game stops and a message box appears on the on-line screen identifying the winning 

Account Holder’s user name and the amount won. 
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 14.G. When an Account Holder is identified as the winning Account Holder following a 

bingo game, that Account Holder’s on-line account is credited in the amount won.  When an Account 

Holder is not identified as the winning Account Holder following a bingo game, that Account Holder’s 

on-line account is debited an amount equal to the purchase price of the Account Holder’s bingo card(s). 

 14.H. Desert Rose Bingo pays out winnings to Account Holders based on a formula that 

calculates, among other factors, a specified percentage of the pay-in amount for the game cards purchased 

for a particular game and a specified percentage to be retained by Defendants. 

  15. Account Holders who place bets or wagers through Desert Rose Bingo from locations that 

are outside IIPAY Indian Lands are participating in “unlawful Internet gambling” within the meaning of 

31 U.S.C. § 5362(10) and 12 C.F.R. § 233.2(bb) because, among other factors: 

  15.A. The California Constitution prohibits lotteries and bingo games except for 

charitable purposes.  Cal. Const. Art. IV, §§ 19(a), (c), (d). 

  15.B. California Penal Code §§ 319, 320, 321 and 322 prohibit lotteries, which are 

defined to include “any scheme for the disposal or distribution of property by chance, among persons who 

have paid or promised to pay any valuable consideration for the chance of obtaining such property or a 

portion of it, or for any share or any interest in such property, upon any agreement, understanding, or 

expectation that it is to be distributed or disposed of by lot or chance, whether called a lottery, raffle, or 

gift enterprise, or by whatever name the same may be known.” 

  15.C. California Penal Code §§ 337a(a)(2) through (4) prohibit keeping a place with a 

device for the purpose of recording or registering any bets or wagers; receiving, holding or forwarding 

money bet or wagered; and/or otherwise recording or registering any bets or wagers that are made “upon 

the result . . . of . . . any lot [or] chance.” 

 15.D. The game of bingo available through Desert Rose Bingo is a non-charitable form of 

lottery as it is a game played for a prize determined by chance for consideration. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Injunctive Relief under UIGEA) 

16. The United States realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 15.D. 

Case 3:14-cv-02855-DMS-BLM   Document 1   Filed 12/03/14   Page 5 of 7



 

 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

Complaint 

17. Commencing on or about November 3, 2014, Defendants knowingly accepted, and 

continue to knowingly accept, in connection with the participation of other persons in unlawful Internet 

gambling conducted through Desert Rose Bingo, “restricted transactions” within the meaning of 31 

U.S.C. § 5362(7) and in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5363. 

18. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 5365(b), the United States “may institute proceedings under this 

section to prevent or restrain a restricted transaction,” and, “[u]pon application of the United States under 

this paragraph, the district court may enter a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction, or an 

injunction against any person to prevent or restrain a restricted transaction.” 

19. Relief is required to maintain the public health and safety.  If Defendants are not enjoined, 

Defendants will likely continue to promote and facilitate unlawful Internet gambling. 

PRAYER 

 WHEREFORE, the United States prays for judgment in its favor awarding the United States: 

 1. A temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunction against 

Defendants, and each of them, to prevent or restrain Defendants from accepting, through the operation of 

Desert Rose Bingo, the following: 

  A. credit, or the proceeds of credit, extended to or on behalf of any Desert Rose Bingo 

Account Holder (including credit extended through the use of a credit card); 

  B. an electronic fund transfer, or funds transmitted by or through a money transmitting 

business, or the proceeds of an electronic fund transfer or money transmitting service, from or on behalf 

of any Desert Rose Bingo Account Holder; 

  C. any check, draft, or similar instrument which is drawn by or on behalf of any 

Desert Rose Bingo Account Holder and is drawn on or payable at or through any financial institution; and 

  D. the proceeds of any other form of financial transaction, as the Secretary and the 

Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System may jointly prescribe by regulation, which involves a 

financial institution as a payor or financial intermediary on behalf of or for the benefit of any Desert Rose 

Bingo Account Holder. 

/// 

/// 
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 2. And for any other relief this Court deems appropriate. 

 Date:  December 3, 2014                                          Respectfully submitted, 
                                                                                            LAURA E. DUFFY 
                                                                                            United States Attorney 
 
                                                                                     By  /s/ Glen F. Dorgan                   
                          GLEN F. DORGAN 
                                                                                            Assistant United States Attorney 
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